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The Market Place, South Shields

R.W. Rennison

R esearch into o ther m atters has brought to 
light some inform ation on the M arket 

Place at South Shields, together with the build­
ing which form s its cen trepiece. In 1766 the 
D ean and C hap ter of D urham  agreed to 
release eight acres of G lebe land at “Scheeles” 
so tha t a m arket place could be form ed, ag ree­
ing at the same tim e to apply for a Bill in Par­
liam ent, where proceedings began in January  
1767.

In the H ouse of C om m ons it was stated  that, 
although South Shields was allowed to hold 
two A nnual Fairs, the town “consists of O ne 
S treet only, extending in Length O ne Mile and 
a H alf along the South Side of the R iver T yne” 
and as a result of its narrow ness was unable 
satisfactorily to accom m odate the fairs; a new 
location was essential. W ith m inor m odifica­
tions the Bill was passed by the H ouse of

Lords and received the Royal A ssent on 23 
M arch 1767.

In Septem ber 1768 John W ooler -  a civil 
engineer at tim es associated with John 
Sm eaton and later associated with new bridges 
at N ewcastle and H exham  -  was paid five 
guineas for drawing “his Plan of Shields M ar­
k e t” although it is uncertain if the design of 
the building was included. The m atter is som e­
what com plicated by the fact that, at about the 
same time, ‘H arding for his p lan’ was paid four 
guineas.

Construction would seem to have begun 
im m ediately as in O ctober 1768 Thom as D un­
can was paid £100 tow ards the cost of building 
the “Town H ouse” , a two-storey building open 
at ground level on three sides, each side with 
three m oulded arches on Tuscan columns. 
W ork included the form ation by John W alker

Fig. 1 South Shields Market Place and Town Hall, about 1800. (Reproduced by kind permission o f Tyne and 
Wear Museums.)



of drains two feet wide and three feet high, “to 
be done in the Manner Proposed by George 
Nicholson”, mason/architect to the Dean and 
Chapter; Walker’s performance was to be 
guaranteed by Duncan who was paid further 
sums of £334.1.lOd in 1769 and £50 in 1770.

The Market Place was paved as part of the 
undertaking and this work was also carried out 
by Duncan at a cost of £509.13.0d. Iron hand- 
railings were provided by Robert Flemming for 
£51.12.4d and a sum of £77.2.5d was paid to 
Walker for the drains, together with £63.15.0d 
for a well. For visiting the site to measure and 
value the work Nicholson received £3.8.6d, 
together with some travelling expenses. The 
Market opened in July 1770, and was later 
described as having “streets branching from the 
centres of each side of the square, and a hand­
some town-hall in the midst, with a colonnade 
under it for the market people...; the square is 
handsomely paved, with a broad foot-walk, by 
the houses in the London form” (Fig. 1).

It is unfortunate that no details are given as 
to the designer of the Town Hall (“Town

House”) and it could have been the responsi­
bility of Wooler, Harding, Nicholson or Dun­
can. Records would seem to indicate that 
Nicholson was paid only for measuring and 
valuing the work, and this would perhaps elim­
inate him as the building’s designer. As a 
result, credit for the design should probably be 
given to Harding or Wooler, with Duncan 
responsible only for building work. It is not 
inconceivable, however, that only an outline 
drawing of the building was given to Duncan 
and that he provided its detailing.
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